ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 03 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SANDY LEE LOCKLEAR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001354

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

EDWIN THOMPSON KINNEY
Attorney

Mullikin Law Firm
1308 Broad Street
Camden, SC 29020
(803) 425-7771

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred in ruling that Appellant was not in custody prior to being read her Miranda rights and in allowing the Appellant's pre-Miranda statement to be admitted into evidence?

2.

Whether the court erred in ruling that the State did not violate the rule set forth in Missouri v. Seibert?

3.

Whether the court erred, thereby violating the Fourth Amendment and the Appellant's right to privacy, when it upheld a search warrant on the home at 509 Fair Bluff Road?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sandy Lee Locklear (Appellant) was indicted in Horry County on two counts of murder. These charges stemmed from Appellant's alleged participation in an incident on August 19, 2012 in the Loris area of Horry County, South Carolina where Amos Hatfield and Thomas Hatfield were killed. On May 28, 29, and 30, 2014, a Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964) hearing was held on the issue of whether Appellant's statements were admissible at trial. R. p. 19. Also on May 30, 2014, a hearing was held on three search warrants and other pre-trial issues. Ralph Wilson, Jr. represented Appellant, while Brad Richardson and Monica Wooten represented the State.

Beginning on June 2, 2014 and ending on June 12, 2014, Appellant proceeded to trial before Judge Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury. R. p. 312. The jury found Appellant guilty of two counts of murder. R. p. 1424, ll. 17-24. For each charge, Judge Culbertson sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment with the Department of Corrections. R. p.1439, ll. 9-14. Appellant's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court erred in ruling that Appellant was not in custody prior to being read her Miranda rights and in allowing the Appellant's pre-Miranda statement to be admitted into evidence.

Relevant Facts

On August 19, 2014 at approximately 4:00 a.m., Appellant called 911 and requested that officers respond to 1163 Red Bluff Road in Loris, South Carolina. R. p. 313, ll. 5-9.

When the police arrived, Appellant told them that she was the victim of a crime. She stated that two men came to the house and shot her husband Amos Hatfield and her stepson Thomas Hatfield. Also, she told the police that she was the victim of a sexual assault at the hands of the perpetrators.

At the scene, lead Detective Neil Frebowitz spoke briefly to Appellant and directed that she be transported to Conway Hospital so that a rape kit could be conducted. R. p. 83, ll. 5-13. Appellant never requested that the police transport her to the hospital. R. p. 86, ll. 20-25. She was driven to the hospital in the front seat of a police car by Detective Chatfield of the Horry County Sheriff's Department. R. p. 1059, ll. 17-25. No ambulance was called to transport the Appellant to the hospital. R. p. 528, ll. 22-23.

While at the hospital, Appellant was examined and treated for injuries that occurred that morning. She spoke to members of the Horry County Sheriff's Department at the hospital. R. p. 24, ll.1-20. After receiving an examination and treatment at the hospital, Appellant was transported to the M.L. Brown Building (the Horry County Sheriff's Department Headquarters) in Conway by a member of the Sheriff's department. R. p. 25, ll. 15-16. Appellant was not asked if she would have like to go home before going to the police

station. Appellant was taken directly from the Conway Hospital to the M.L. Brown Building in Conway. When she arrived at the M.L. Brown building, Appellant was wearing scrubs that she was given by the hospital staff, presumably because all of her clothes were taken while performing the rape kit. R. p. 112, ll. 7-12.

After arriving at the sheriff's department, Appellant was taken to an interview room where Detective Frebowitz and others began questioning her. Appellant was not handcuffed at this time and was not read her Miranda rights when the questioning began. R. p. 23, ll. 1-4. At the Jackson v. Denno hearing prior to trial, Detective Frebowitz testified that they treated Appellant like a victim and were seeking to gain information about the crime. R. p. 25, ll. 24-25.

During the first fifty minutes of questioning, Detective Frebowitz asked Appellant to tell the truth and to tell him all that she could remember from that night. Court's Exhibit #3 4:20 (Please note, the audio of the interrogation is in the record) As Appellant explains the past events, Detective Frebowitz began to point out inconsistencies and changes in her story. When Appellant tells him that she was bitten while she was being raped, he questioned her on that and said it was unusual for rapists to bite. Court's Exhibit #3 23:00. He pointed out that she did not tell him that she was tied up when she was raped earlier in the interview. Court's Exhibit #3 40:05.

During the course of the questioning the detectives continued to question parts of her story. Such as, when Appellant stated that she did not spend much time at her husband's house because she did not like the smell and the smoke, Detective Frebowitz questioned her about why she spent time at the house the previous night and was not just "in and out." Court's Exhibit #3 30:10.

Detective Frebowitz asked Appellant for consent to search her phone records to see who she spoke with that day. Appellant agreed to the search of her phone records and provided further information about who she spoke with that day. Court's Exhibit #3 42:20.

During the first part of the interrogation before Miranda was given, the police denied Appellant a cigarette break after she said she needed one. When she asked for a cigarette, Detective Frebowitz said, "no smoking, it is not good for you" and would not let Appellant leave the room for a cigarette. Court's Exhibit #3 47:50

After approximately fifty minutes of questioning, the parties took a ten-minute break. Upon their return, Detective Frebowitz informed Appellant that he "forgot" to read her rights before and that he would do that now. Court's Exhibit #3 1:00:01. He reads the Miranda rights and obtains the Appellant's signature on the waiver of Miranda rights form.

After receiving the Miranda waiver, the detectives confronted Appellant and said that she had not been raped. The detectives proceeded to questions her for several hours until placing her under arrest.

Discussion

Law enforcement must state Miranda rights "after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any way." State v. Evans, 354 S.C. 579, 582 S.E.2d 407 (2003), *citing* Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). "To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning." Id. at 583. This is an objective analysis based on whether or not a reasonable person would believe they are in

police custody. Id. citing Bradley v. State, 316 S.C. 255, 257, 449 S.E.2d 492, 493-494 (1994).

In Evans, an individual was suspected of lighting her home on fire and killing her three children inside. Ten days after the fire, the police asked Evans if she would come to the police station for an interview. Evans agreed and drove herself to the police station to talk to the police. Id. at 581. After her arrival, police took Evans to a back office and began to question her, never reading her Miranda rights. The police proceeded to challenge Evans' version of the events confronted her with information that contradicted her statements.

In Evans, the Court affirmed the trial judge's ruling that the suspect was in custody and Miranda should have been read, which was supported by several factors. These included that the police accompanied her at all times while she was there, that the interview took place in a back office at the police station, the interview lasted three hours, and the interview was not just about fact finding, but rather a process where they questioned the information she gave them. Id. at 583-584.

In another South Carolina case, the Court of Appeals examines the factors the courts should consider in more detail when determining whether or not a criminal defendant is in custody. See State v. Williams, 405 S.C. 263, 747 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App., 2013). These factors included “. . . whether the contact with law enforcement was initiated by the police or the person interrogated, and if by the police, whether the person voluntarily agreed to interview and “whether they informed the person he or she could terminate the interview and leave at any time or whether the person's conduct indicated an awareness of such freedom.” Id. at 276 citing George L. Blum, Annotation, What Constitutes “Custodial Interrogation” of Adult by Police Officer Within Rule of Miranda v. Arizona Requiring that

Suspect Be Informed of Federal Constitutional Rights Before Custodial Interrogation—At Police Station or Sheriff's Office, Where Defendant Voluntarily Appears or Appears at Request of Law Enforcement Personnel, or Where Unspecified as to Circumstances Upon Which Defendant Is Present, 29 A.L.R.6th 1, § 2 (2007).

In Williams, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's finding that the defendant was not in custody before his Miranda rights were read. The suspect agreed to an interview with the police after he was suspected of abusing a child in his care. After the police contacted him, the defendant agreed to be interviewed and drove himself to the police station. 405 S.C. at 269. The suspect stated that he wanted to take care of the matter before he left town and brought two family members with him. After interviewing Williams for fifteen minutes, the police read him his Miranda rights and began confronting him with evidence and conflicting information. Id. The Court explained that he drove himself to the station along with his family members and his pre-Miranda interview only lasted fifteen minutes. The Court wrote "he never asked if he could leave or asked for anything; and the conversation leading to his incriminating statements included information about where he was from and his background." Id. at 278.

In this case at the Jackson v. Denno hearing, the trial court ruled the Appellant's pre-Miranda statements were admissible. The trial court ruled "that pre-Miranda it was still a fact investigation of someone thought to be a victim" and that she was not in custody until Miranda was given. R. p. 301, 11,16-20. Therefore, the statement given to the police that was admissible and was subsequently played for the jury. R. p. 463-465.

In this case, there are many facts that would lead a reasonable person in the Appellant's position to believe that they were in police custody as soon as they arrived at the

sheriff's department. Unlike the defendants in Evans and Williams, the Appellant in this case did not drive herself to the sheriff's department or have a family member or friend drive her, instead she was transported by detectives to the M.L. Brown Building in Conway in a police car. Unlike Evans, the Appellant was in the presence of the sheriff's and detectives from the time she called 911 that morning. Which included being transported to the hospital, examined at the hospital, transported to the sheriff's department, and then being questioned.

Evidence exists in the record that the detectives controlled the movements of Appellant and would not let her move freely. For example, when she asked for a cigarette break, the detective responded that there would be no cigarette break. Appellant did not tell the detectives she was going outside to smoke a cigarette, which indicates that the police were controlling her movements.

Another factor that would lead a reasonable person to believe that they were in custody is the location of the interview. This interview took place at the Horry County Sheriff's Department headquarters in an interrogation room. The interrogation room at the sheriff's department was not in an area where a reasonable person would assume they could easily come and go.

At the Jackson v. Denno hearing, Detective Frebowitz testified and the State argued that they believed that Appellant was a victim of a crime and they needed to interview her to gain evidence to solve the case. In other words, the state argued that she was treated like a victim until they became suspicious and then Miranda was read.

If Appellant was treated like a victim, the detectives did several things that one would not equate with the treatment of a victim. After leaving the hospital, Appellant was

not permitted to go home, even for a brief period of time, before being interviewed. It seems that a victim of sexual assault would be offered a chance to go home, have a meal, take a shower, and put on her own clothes. Instead, Appellant was taken straight to the sheriff's department wearing temporary scrubs that she was given at the hospital.

Another factor that distinguishes this case from Williams, where the individual being questioned was found to not be in custody, is the length of the pre-Miranda questioning. In Williams, the questioning lasted only fifteen minutes before Miranda was given. In this period of time, there is only time for a "name, rank, and serial number" type questioning. In contrast to Williams, the pre-Miranda questioning in Evans lasted nearly three hours. This was one of the factors that the Court relied on in affirming the trial court's finding that the suspect was in custody.

In this case, the fifty-minute pre-Miranda questioning is more akin to the longer questioning in Evans. The interview did not consist of simply background information, but rather went into detail about the events of the previous night. Detectives asked detailed questions about Appellant's relationship to the victims and about the events of the night.

In addition to the length of the pre-Miranda interview, the content of the questioning would make a reasonable person believe they were in custody. The detectives began to lay the groundwork for confronting Appellant pre-Miranda. For example, after Appellant tells Detective Frebowitz that she did not typically spend much time at her husband's house, he repeatedly questions her about why she was there for an extended period of time that night. Also, when she tells him that she was bitten while being raped, he states that rapists usually do not bite, indicating that he found her story unusual.

In sum, a reasonable person in the Appellant's situation would believe that they were not free to go, therefore were in custody. The detectives should have read Appellant her Miranda rights as soon as they began questioning her at the police station.

II. The trial court erred in ruling that the State did not violate the rule set forth in *Missouri v. Seibert*.

Relevant Facts

In this case, the State used the tactic of eliciting incriminating information and then Mirandizing the Appellant. As was discussed in the previous section of this brief, Appellant was questioned for approximately fifty minutes before she was read her Miranda rights. Detective Neil Frebowitz of the Horry County Sheriff's Department was the lead investigator on this case. He took part in the entire interview, both pre and post Miranda warnings. R. p. 29, ll. 21-23. While other detectives came and assisted in the interrogation, Detective Frebowitz remained in charge of the entire interrogation.

During this questioning, the detectives elicited incriminating information that they would later use to contradict her statements. Detective Frebowitz told Appellant that she was a victim and that he was seeking information to solve the crime. Court's Exhibit #3 0:50. However, many of the questions he asked Appellant were about her actions the night before and he managed to expose many inconsistencies in her story. These inconsistencies were used by the State at trial to show that Appellant was lying to investigators during her interview.

During the pre-Miranda interrogation, Detective Frebowitz told her that what she is saying is "a little different" than what she said before. Court's Exhibit #3 20:33. Also, detectives responded to her statement that the rapist bit her by saying that most rapists do

not bite, and that it would be unusual if her rapist bit her. Court's Exhibit #3 23:00.

Appellant told the detectives that she was beat up and had marks on her body. In response to this assertion, the detectives responded, "well I don't see any marks on you," and clearly question her statement.

Towards the end of the pre-Miranda interview, the issue of whether or not Appellant was tied or taped up is discussed. Court's Exhibit #3 40:00. Appellant brought up how she was taped up and bound by the rapists. The detectives responded to this statement by questioning her and asking why she did not mention this earlier. He stated that you would think that would be the first thing one would remember, not the last. Id.

During the interview, Appellant stated several times that she did not spend time at Amos Hatfield's house because she did not like that he smoked in the house. She explained that even though they were married, they lived separately and he would come over to her house. She stated that she went over to his house the night of the murders to watch golf on TV and "hang out." Court's Exhibit #3 30:00. In response to this statement, Detective Frebowitz questioned her about why on this night she was spending time at Amos' house when she previously told them she did not like to spend time at his house. Id. Appellant responded somewhat incoherently and did not directly address her previous statement of not spending time at Amos' house.

After the first fifty minutes of questioning, the detectives took a ten-minute break. After returning from this break, Detective Frebowitz told the defendant that he "forgot" to read her Miranda rights and then proceeded to read the rights and have Appellant sign a waiver form. Court's Exhibit #3 59:56, R. p. 1447.

At the pre-trial Jackson v. Denno hearing, Defense Counsel argued that the State had committed a constitutional violation as laid out in State v. Navy, a South Carolina case which adopts the rule of Missouri v. Seibert. See State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010).

Discussion

In Missouri v. Seibert, the United States Supreme Court addressed the police practice of questioning a suspect until incriminating evidence is elicited, and then administering Miranda warnings. Id. citing Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, (2004). After the Miranda warnings are given, the incriminating information is re-elicited, and then entered into evidence at trial. Id.

According to the Seibert plurality opinion, the factors to be considered in determining if a constitutional violation occurred are: “1) the completeness and detail of the question and answers in the first round of interrogation; 2) the timing and setting of the first questioning and the second; 3) the continuity of police personnel; and 4) the degree to which the interrogator's questions treated the second round as continuous with the first.” Id. at 842.

Also in Seibert, Justice Kennedy wrote separately and stated that not all Miranda violations require suppression, such as when the police do not realize a suspect is in custody or when the officer did not plan to question the suspect at that time. Id. He suggested that a curative measure should be taken in a case such as this, such as a substantial break in questioning between the pre-warning and post-warning statement. Id.

In Navy, the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed a case of “springing” incriminating information on an individual to elicit a confession, and only then Mirandizing the suspect who restated the previous information. In that case, officers obtained a voluntary

statement of the suspect that conformed with his previous statements. Id. at 839. However, the officers had prior knowledge that the suspect's child had died of suffocation and had broken ribs, information that implicated the suspect in question. After his first statement, the officers confronted the suspect with the information of suffocation and broken ribs. Id. at 840. They assured him he was not under arrest, but they elicited information from the suspect that he had hit the child and interfered with its breathing. Id. After this information, they read the suspect his Miranda rights and got him to write a statement that included the incriminating information. Id. The officers consulted with a pathologist, then asked more questions of the suspect about how long he held his hand over the child's face.

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