ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

DEC 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Sandy Lee Locklear,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-001354

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON

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

In this appeal, Appellant challenges only the trial judge's finding that she was not in custody during the pre-*Miranda* interview at the police station. He argues the factual finding was incorrect as "there are many facts that would lead a reasonable person in the Appellant's position to believe they were in police custody as soon as they arrived at the sheriff's department" particularly, that she did not drive herself, and that sheriff's department stayed with her from arrival after she called 911 for help, to the hospital and later to the sheriff's department. (FBOA, pp. 9-10). Further, she argues "the fifty-minute pre-Miranda questioning" is supportive of custody as it went to details of the crime, not simply "background information." (FBOA, p. 11). Finally, she argues the facts are more like those in *State v. Navy* which found investigators used investigative techniques to obtain information without giving required *Miranda* warnings. (FBOA, pp. 17-18).

Discussion:

Appellant's position fails as there is ample factual support for the trial judge's ruling that she was not in custody during the initial interview at the police station. As there is support in the record for the trial judge's factual findings and his legal conclusions are sound, there is no abuse of discretion. His decision should be affirmed on appeal.

"Appellate review of whether a person is in custody is confined to a determination of whether the ruling by the trial judge is supported by the record." *State v. Evans*, 354 S.C. 579, 583, 582 S.E.2d 407, 409 (2003). "The trial court's determination of whether a defendant was deprived of his *Miranda* rights will be upheld unless unsupported by the

record.” *State v. Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 38, 671 S.E.2d 107, 123 (Ct.App. 2008). In short, “the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Rochester*, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990). In conducting the review, an appellate court will review for error of law. The appellate court “does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but [will] simply determine whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

“The purpose of the *Miranda* warnings is to apprise the defendant of her constitutional privilege to not incriminate herself while in the custody of law enforcement.” *Id* (citing *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 1612 (1966)). Custody for purposes of *Miranda* is more than questioning by officers at a detention center. *See, e.g., Oregon v. Mathiason*, 429 U.S. 492, 495, 97 S.Ct. 711 (1977) (“police officers are not required to administer *Miranda* warnings to everyone whom they question” or “simply because the questioning takes place in the station house”). “As used in [Supreme Court] *Miranda* case law, ‘custody’ is a term of art that specifies circumstances that are thought generally to present a serious danger of coercion.” *Howes v. Fields*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 1181, 1189 (2012).

“In determining whether a person is in custody in this sense, the initial step is to ascertain whether, in light of the ‘objective circumstances of the interrogation,’ a ‘reasonable person [would] have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave.’” *Howes v. Fields*, 132 S.Ct. at 1189 (citations omitted). “To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the

circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.” *State v. Evans*, 354 S.C. at 583, 582 S.E.2d at 410. “The custodial determination is an objective analysis based on whether a reasonable person would have concluded that he was in police custody.” *Evans*, 354 S.C. at 583, 582 S.E.2d at 410. *See also Illinois v. Perkins*, 496 U.S. 292, 296, 110 S.Ct. 2394 (1990) (“Coercion is determined from the perspective of the suspect.”). Our Supreme Court has recognized: “It is an objective determination, that is, would a reasonable person have believed he was in custody.” *State v. Navy*, 386 S.C. 294, 301, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010).

Our Court has also recognized the “warnings requirement cannot be skirted by interrogative tactics that undermine the very purpose of *Miranda*, *i.e.*, unless and until such warnings and waiver are given, no evidence obtained as a result of interrogation can be used against a defendant at trial.” *State v. White*, 410 S.C. 56, 57, 762 S.E.2d 726, 727 (Ct. App. 2014) (*citing Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 478-79, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966); *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 617 124 S.Ct. 2601 (2004); *State v. Navy*, 386 S.C. 294, 303-04, 688 S.E.2d 838, 842 (2010)). However, not all statement issues fall neatly into on side or the other:

It is an unwarranted extension of *Miranda* to hold that a simple failure to administer the warnings, unaccompanied by any actual coercion or other circumstances calculated to undermine the suspect’s ability to exercise his free will, so taints the investigatory process that a subsequent voluntary and informed waiver is ineffective for some indeterminate period. Though *Miranda* requires that the unwarned admission must be suppressed, the admissibility of any subsequent statement should turn in these circumstances solely on whether it is knowingly and voluntarily made.

*Oregon v. Elstad*, 470 U.S. 298, 309, 105 S.Ct. 1285 (1985).

In *Seibert*, the Supreme Court reconciled these seemingly different positions by direct analysis of the *Elstad* facts: “ ... it is fair to read *Elstad* as treating the [the first, short] living room conversation as a good-faith *Miranda* mistake, not only open to correction by careful warnings before systematic questioning in that particular case, but posing no threat to warn-first practice generally.” *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. at 615.

In *Elstad*, the first statement that defendant “was there” during the crime at issue was obtained in response to the officer’s explaining there was a robbery and the officer “felt [Elstad] was involved in that....” 470 U.S. at 301. This conversation transpired in Elstad’s home during Elstad’s arrest on burglary charge. *Id.* In guidance for determining the impermissible conduct from simple mistake, the Court set out the following factors to consider:

- 1) the completeness and detail of the question and answers in the first round of interrogation;
- 2) the timing and setting of the first questioning and the second;
- 3) the continuity of police personnel; and
- 4) the degree to which the interrogator’s questions treated the second round as continuous with the first.

*State v. Navy*, 386 S.C. at 302, 688 S.E.2d at 841- 842 (*citing Seibert*).

*Navy* is instructive as it involves three statements, the first which the Court found admissible. *Navy*’s first statement which was admissible is similar to the instant first statement which reflects an exculpatory statement consistent with the initial story previously told to officers.

In *Navy*, at issue was “the suffocation death of [Navy’s] almost two year old son....” 386 S.C. at 296, 688 S.E.2d at 838. *Navy* was questioned at the hospital on the day of the

child's death, but his statement was considered "incomplete" due to his emotional state. *Id.*, 386 S.C. at 297, 688 S.E.2d at 839. The next day, an autopsy determined "there was no medical reason for the child to die" but found death was caused by suffocation, and noted "that the child had four older healing rib fractures in his back ...which had occurred at different times." *Id.* Investigators were advised of these findings and decided to approach Navy again. The officers questioned Navy at the police station. The first statement reflected that he "comforted" victim after victim awoke crying by "patting him on his back," eventually noticed breathing problems which he claim ended in the child's death. He claimed he attempted CPR and continued until emergency services personel arrived. The Court noted "[t]his statement is largely consistent with the statement respondent gave at the hospital after the child died." *Id.*, 386 S.C. at 298, 688 S.E.2d at 839. The Court further noted "[t]he investigator testified [at the pre-trial hearing that] respondent was not in custody or under arrest, and agreed that respondent was free to tell the officers to take him home anytime he wanted." *Id.*, 386 S.C. at 298, 688 S.E.2d at 839-40. The Court, agreeing with the trial judge who found the statement admissible, found on these facts that suppression was not warranted:

In our opinion, it is debatable whether a reasonable person would have believed himself to be in custody at the time the first statement was given, and thus the trial court's finding that respondent was not in custody should have been upheld as it is supported by the record. *State v. Evans, supra*. In light of this, the Court of Appeals erred in finding the first statement should have been suppressed.

*Id.*, 386 S.C. at 301, 688 S.E.2d at 841.

The first statement at issue here shares the same investigative reasoning, but with even less suspicion. In *Navy*, the questioning at the police station three days after the death

was instigated *after* officers received autopsy findings. Here, there was the immediate need to investigate the death of two individuals, and, after securing medical treatment, and the detective simply questioned the surviving victim as a witness. He was under the impression that the two individuals who had murdered two victims and raped the surviving victim during a home invasion were still loose in the community. Officers were actively investigating to address the immediate threat. That Appellant's story began to fall apart was less a product of coercion and more a product of fabrications that could not be supported by the forensic evidence.

In short, the fact that Appellant announced she herself was a victim of rape and witness to the home invasion makes this distinctively different than any case relied upon by Appellant to argue police aid in transportation from the hospital and timing of the interview suggests error. *See People v. Winchell*, 98 A.D.2d 838, 839 (N.Y.A.D. 3 Dept. 1983) (“defendant was considered a victim, not a suspect” thus “it is clear that the questioning by the police was investigatory rather than custodial in nature and constituted a proper discharge of their duty to investigate his complaint of an alleged assault”); *Caldwell v. Phelps*, 945 F.Supp.2d 520, 533 (D.Del. 2013) (finding no error in “application of clearly established federal law” where state court did not find *Miranda* warnings necessary when investigator had “interviewed petitioner as a witness to the home invasion, not as a suspect to a crime”). Appellant concedes she was told that she was considered a victim and that the investigators were seeking information about the crime. (FBOA, p. 12). The fact that she indeed believed this is supported by her repeated story of being a victim, and her willingness to answer questions and provide her phone records. (See R. p. 139, line 23 – p. 140, line 5). It is also supported by her responses which indicate she understood the investigation and

“appreciate[d] it.” (See Recording Time Stamp at 11:14). The record reasonably supports an inference that her actual understanding was that she was not in custody at that point. But critically, these facts support that a reasonable person would not believe it was a custodial situation at that point – the relevant legal analysis.

Again, returning to *Navy*, it becomes sure that the instant factual situation may not be equated with the factual situation found to show improper questioning. As noted, the *Navy* Court found the first statement admissible, but also found two other statements taken should have been suppressed:

After he gave this first statement, the crying and upset respondent was informed, for the first time, that the child had been suffocated and that there was evidence of broken ribs. According to Investigator Smith, respondent was shocked and surprised by this information. Respondent asked if he were under arrest, and was told “No, we are just trying to get some answers.” The officers engaged in follow-up questioning, asking specifically how respondent had comforted the crying child. ***At this juncture, the nature of the interrogation and respondent's status changed, and what had begun as a voluntary question and answer session matured into custodial interrogation.*** In response to these follow-up questions, respondent told the officers he had “popped” the child on the back rather than simply patted him, and that he may have “patted” the child on its mouth to stop the crying.

*Id.*, 386 S.C. at 298-299, 688 S.E.2d at 839 (emphasis added).

Similarly, in *State v. Evans*, the Court noted the investigating officers identified a specific turning point in the interview. Yet, the officers failed to give the required warnings.

In *Evans*, the defendant was first requested to answer questions as a surviving parent of children who perished in a home fire. *Evans*, 354 S.C. at 581, 582 S.E.2d at 408. She was questioned immediately after the fire by an arson investigator, but declined to give a written statement. *Id.* Later investigation testing revealed an accelerant was used in the

home fire. The investigator attempted to approach Evans ten days after the deaths at the home where she was staying. He wished to request a written statement; however, she was not at the home at that time and the investigator “left a message asking her to come to the ... police station,” which she did that same day. *Id.* As the interview revealed various exculpatory, inconsistent stories, investigators began to challenge Evans. One investigator “repeatedly told Evans that he did not believe any of her explanations.” *Id.*, 354 S.C. at 581, 582 S.E.2d at 409. Investigators then changed directions and increased restrictions. *Id.*, 354 S.C. at 581-582, 582 S.E.2d at 409. At that point, the interview was converted from permissible questioning to custodial interrogation. *Evans*, 354 S.C. at 584, 582 S.E.2d at 410. Evans ultimately gave a confession after which she was given the *Miranda* warnings prior to writing the inculpatory statement on the same form as a prior exculpatory statement. *Id.*, 354 S.C. at 582, 582 S.E.2d at 409. Only the exculpatory, however, was challenged on appeal. *Id.* The Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed, crediting the trial judge’s factual analysis, and concluding “the judge did not abuse his discretion in concluding that Evans was in police custody when she made the inculpatory statement.” *Id.* at 584.

In contrast to the inadmissible statements in both *Navy* and *Evans*, and consistent with *Miranda*, the investigating officer here gave Appellant the warnings when it became apparent that her oft repeated story was not consistent with the evidence and details as they were coming in during the ongoing investigation. Further, the recording and the testimony at the pre-trial hearing, confirm a shift in tone and technique as the interview continued. (See, for example, R. p. 99, line 15 – p. 128, line 19 as compared to R. p. 139, line 16 – p. 140, line 5). Further still, the directly incriminating responses of participation only occurred *after* the warnings were given. There is no cause on this record to find the type of

intentional avoidance of the mandate. The trial judge appropriately found the statements admissible. However, even if error could be inferred from these facts, it does not follow that Appellant can show reversible error.

The improper admission of a statement in evidence is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 121, 129, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621 (1997). This Court has found such possibility of error to be harmless both as cumulative to other admissible evidence, *State v. Whitner*, 380 S.C. 513, 518-519, 670 S.E.2d 655, 658-659 (Ct. App. 2008), and harmless in light of other evidence overwhelming supporting guilt, *State v. Lynch*, 375 S.C. 628, 636, 654 S.E.2d 292, 296 (Ct. App. 2007).

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